
AGENDA

PWYLLGOR CRAFFU'R CABINET

10.00 am DYDD MERCHER, 10 GORFFENNAF 2019

COUNCIL CHAMBER - PORT TALBOT CIVIC CENTRE

Rhan 1

1. Datganiadau o gysylltiadau  

2. Cofnodion y cyfarfod blaenorol  (Tudalennau 5 - 10)

Archwilio materion gwybodaeth a monitro sy'n cael eu 
hadrodd gan:

3. Adroddiad Blynyddol Bwrdd Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Castell-
nedd Port Talbot 2018-2019  (Tudalennau 11 - 54)
Adroddiad y Prif Weithredwr Cynorthwyol a'r Prif Swyddog Digidol

4. Dewis eitemau priodol o agenda y Cabinet (Adroddiadau y Cabinet 
yn amgaeedig ar gyfer yr aelodau craffu)  

5. Dewis eitemau priodol o agenda Is-bwyllgor (Cyllid) y Cabinet 
(Adroddiadau Is-bwyllgor (Cyllid) y Cabinet yn amgaeedig ar gyfer 
yr aelodau craffu)  

6. Blaenraglen Waith 2019/20  (Tudalennau 55 - 58)

7. Eitemau brys  
Unrhyw eitemau brys (boed yn gyhoeddus neu wedi'u heithrio) yn ôl 
disgresiwn y Cadeirydd yn unol ag Offeryn Statudol 2001 Rhif 2290 
(fel y'i diwygiwyd).

8. Mynediad i gyfarfodydd  
Mynediad at gyfarfodydd i benderfynu a ddylid gwahardd y cyhoedd 



o'r eitem ganlynol yn unol ag Adran 100A (4) a (5) Deddf
Llywodraeth Leol 1972 a'r paragraffau eithriedig perthnasol o Ran 4 
Atodlen 12a y Ddeddf uchod.

Rhan 2

9. Dewis eitemau priodol o agenda Cabinet Preifat ar gyfer craffu cyn 
y penderfyniad (adroddiadau cabinet wedi eu hamgáu ar gyfer 
Craffu Aelodau)  

10. Dewis eitemau priodol o agenda Preifat Is-bwyllgor (Cyllid) y 
Cabinet (Adroddiadau Is-bwyllgor (Cyllid) y Cabinet yn amgaeedig 
ar gyfer yr aelodau craffu)  

S.Phillips
Prif Weithredwr

Canolfan Ddinesig
Port Talbot Dydd Iau, 4 Gorffennaf 2019

Aelodaeth y Pwyllgor: 

Cadeirydd: M.Harvey

Is-gadeirydd: S.Rahaman

Cynghorwyr: S. ap Dafydd, S.E.Freeguard, N.T.Hunt, 
S.K.Hunt, S.A.Knoyle, A.Llewelyn, S.Miller, 
R.Mizen, J.D.Morgan, S.Paddison, L.M.Purcell, 
S.M.Penry, S.H.Reynolds a/ac A.N.Woolcock

Nodiadau: 

(1) Os yw aelodau'r pwyllgor neu'r rhai nad ydynt yn aelodau'r pwyllgor 
am gynnig eitemau perthnasol i'w cynnwys ar yr agenda cyn 
cyfarfodydd y dyfodol, rhaid iddynt roi gwybod i'r Prif 
Weithredwr/Cadeirydd 8 niwrnod cyn y cyfarfod. 



(2) Os yw'r rhai nad ydynt yn aelodau'r pwyllgor am fod yn bresennol ar 
gyfer eitem o ddiddordeb, mae'n rhaid rhoi rhybudd ymlaen llaw 
(erbyn 12 hanner dydd ar y diwrnod cyn y cyfarfod).  Gall y rhai nad 
ydynt yn aelodau'r pwyllgor siarad ond nid oes ganddynt hawl i 
bleidleisio, cynnig nac eilio unrhyw gynnig.

(3) Fel arfer, ar gyfer trefniadau cyn craffu, bydd y Cadeirydd yn argymell 
eitemau gweithredol sydd ar ddod i'w trafod/herio.  Mae hefyd yn 
agored i aelodau'r pwyllgor ofyn i eitemau gael eu trafod - er y 
gofynnir i'r aelodau ddewis a dethol yma o ran materion pwysig.

(4) Gwahoddir aelodau perthnasol Bwrdd y Cabinet hefyd i fod yn 
bresennol yn y cyfarfod at ddibenion Craffu/Ymgynghori.

(5) Gofynnir i aelodau'r Pwyllgor Craffu ddod â'u papurau ar gyfer Bwrdd 
y Cabinet i'r cyfarfod.



Mae’r dudalen hon yn fwriadol wag



- 1 -

290519

CABINET SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

(Council Chamber - Port Talbot Civic Centre)

Members Present: 29 May, 2019

Chairperson: Councillor S.Rahaman

Councillors: S. ap Dafydd, S.K.Hunt, A.Llewelyn, S.Miller, 
R.Mizen, S.Paddison, S.M.Penry, L.M.Purcell, 
S.H.Reynolds and A.N.Woolcock

Officers In 
Attendance:

Cabinet 
Invitees:

S.Phillips, A.Evans, A.Jarrett, G.Nutt, 
C.Griffiths, H.Jones, S.Griffiths, K.Davies, 
N.Headon and C.Davies

Councillors L.Jones, R.G.Jones, E.V.Latham, 
A.R.Lockyear, P.A.Rees, P.D.Richards, 
A.J.Taylor and A.Wingrave

1. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING

Decision:

That the Minutes of the previous meeting of Cabinet, held on 8 May, 
2019, be approved.

2. FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME 18/19

Noted by Committee.

3. PRE-SCRUTINY

The Committee scrutinised the following Cabinet Board items:-

Tudalen5

Eitem yr Agenda2



- 2 -

290519

Cabinet Board Proposals

Submission and Acceptance of Grant Applications

Member’s received information in relation to the submission and 
acceptance of grant applications, as detailed in the circulated report.

A formal amendment to the recommendation contained within the 
circulated report was proposed and seconded.

It was recommended originally in the circulated report that delegated 
authority be granted to:

(a) the Chief Executive, Corporate Directors, the Assistant Chief 
Executive and Chief Digital Officer and all Heads of Service to 
submit grant applications for any matter within their respective 
areas or where the Council acts as a lead authority for regional 
collaboration;

(b) the Chief Executive, Corporate Directors, the Assistant Chief 
Executive and Chief Digital Officer and all Heads of Service be 
granted delegated authority to enter into any grant agreement in 
respect of any grant funding subject to consultation with the 
Director of Finance and Corporate Services or Head of Finance. 
Where two signatories were required to a grant agreement, the 
two signatories would be the Corporate Director or a Head of 
Service within that same directorate and the Director of Finance 
and Corporate Services or Head of Finance or in their absence 
the Chief Executive or Head of Legal Services; 

(c) the Head of Legal Services update the Constitution of Neath 
Port Talbot County Borough Council as may be appropriate to 
implement these changes.

However the Scrutiny Committee proposed the addition of the 
following:-

It is recommended that in consultation with the Leader and/or 
appropriate Cabinet Member(s) delegated authority be granted to 
recommendations (a)-(c) to remain unchanged.

Tudalen6



- 3 -

290519

Modern Slavery Statement in Respect of Neath Port Talbot County 
Borough Council 

The Committee received information in relation to the adoption of a 
Modern Slavery Statement in respect of the Neath Port Talbot 
Council Supply Chain, following the adoption and implementation of 
the Welsh Government Ethical Employment in Supply Chains Code 
of Practice.

A discussion took place in relation to the implementation of the Code 
of Practice Commitments.   Officers explained that as a council we 
are committed to support this principle, although it was recognised 
that some principles the Authority was unable to take to the next 
level.

Members welcomed the Modern Slavery Statement.

Following scrutiny, the Committee was supportive of the proposal to 
be considered by Cabinet.

Capital Programme Outturn 2018-19

Members praised the work carried out by officers in the circulated 
report setting out the financial outturn position for the Capital 
Programme for 2018/19.

A discussion took place regarding the former Crown Foods Site.  It 
was noted that progress was being made and that there was 
indicative funding for refurbishment of these offices, it was highlighted 
that this site would be marketed shortly.

Following scrutiny, the Committee was supportive of the proposal to 
be considered by Cabinet.

Revenue Outturn and Reserves Position 2018-19

The Chief Executive thanked all these involved in the producing the 
Revenue Outturn and Reserves Position Statement 2018/19, as 
detailed in the circulated report.

Tudalen7



- 4 -

290519

Members questioned the detail of the Council underspend of £776k, 
and Members were advised that the detail of the underspend was 
shown in Appendix 1 of the circulated report.

Following scrutiny, the Committee was supportive of the proposal to 
be considered by Cabinet.

4. ACCESS TO MEETINGS

RESOLVED: that pursuant to Section 100A(4) and (5) of the
Local Government Act 1972, the public be
excluded for the following item of business
which involved the likely disclosure of exempt
information as defined in Paragraph 14 of Part 4
of Schedule 12A to the above Act.

5. NEATH PORT TALBOT PLACE BRAND

Members received a presentation on the Neath Port Talbot Place 
Branding exercise, led by the Tourism Team and discussed the Place 
Branding opportunities for Neath Port Talbot.

Following Scrutiny, the Committee was supportive of the proposals to 
be considered by Cabinet.

TRAILER_SECTION>

CHAIRPERSON

Tudalen8



- 5 -

190619

CABINET SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

(Council Chamber - Port Talbot Civic Centre)

Members Present: 19 June 2019

Chairperson: Councillor S.Rahaman

Councillors: S.apDafydd, N.T.Hunt, S.K.Hunt, S.A.Knoyle, 
R.Mizen, S.M.Penry and A.N.Woolcock

Officers In 
Attendance:

S.Phillips, A.Evans, A.Jarrett, H.Jenkins, 
G.Nutt, K.Jones, C.Griffiths, C.Furlow, 
R.Headon, C.Davies and T.Davies

Cabinet Invitees: Councillors D.Jones, L.Jones, R.G.Jones, 
E.V.Latham, P.A.Rees, P.D.Richards, 
A.J.Taylor and A.Wingrave

1. PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY

Committee scrutinised the following Cabinet items:

Welsh Language Standards Annual Report 2018-19

Officers highlighted the positive work of the Council around the Welsh 
Language Standards, including the continued investment in Welsh 
language education in Neath Port Talbot. An invite would shortly be 
extended to the Welsh language Commissioner to visit the new age 
3-11 Welsh medium school, Ysgol Bro Dur. 

Challenges around the Standards were also discussed, including the 
translation of all social media posts into Welsh. It was noted that the 
Council had a limited number of Welsh speakers, despite numerous 
recruitment drives for Welsh speaking Modern Apprentices. Existing 
staff were being offered courses in Welsh in order to improve their 
knowledge and confidence in the use of the language. 

Members were pleased to note that despite the relatively low number 
of recognised Welsh speakers within the Council, the number of staff 

Tudalen9



- 6 -

190619

with fluent/fairly fluent language skills identified in the employee 
directory had more than doubled in the last two years.

Another challenge in adhering to the Standards was the budget 
pressure of translating the relevant materials. It was hoped that future 
improvements in digital technologies would reduce this particular 
pressure going forward.

It was noted that although the Welsh language Standards applied 
equally to the whole of Wales, the amount of Welsh speakers across 
the country varied greatly.

Members queried the amount of customers who chose to speak in 
Welsh when contacting the call centre and noted that this was a very 
small amount compared to the total amount of calls received. More 
detailed information around these figures would be presented to 
Members in the next quarterly performance monitoring report.

Following scrutiny the monitoring report was noted.

Officer Urgency Action 0037 – Establishment a Youth Mayor

Members noted that an election would shortly take place within Neath 
Port Talbot’s Youth Council for both the Youth Mayor and Deputy 
Youth Mayor positions.

A further report would be brought to Cabinet, detailing the 
arrangements for the inauguration of the Youth Mayor, along with the 
Deputy Youth Mayor, who would provide cover for events when the 
Youth Mayor was unavailable. 

Following scrutiny the report was noted.

2. FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME 19/20

The Committee noted the Forward Work Programme for 2019/20.

CHAIRPERSON

Tudalen10



NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Cabinet Scrutiny Committee

10th July 2019

Report of the Assistant Chief Executive and Chief Digital 
Officer

K. Jones

Matter for Monitoring

Wards Affected: 
All Wards

Report Title Neath Port Talbot Public Services Board Annual 
Report 2018-2019

Purpose of the Report:
To present the Neath Port Talbot Public Services Board Annual 
Report 2018-2019 for information.

Executive Summary:

 The Well-being Plan for the county borough ‘The Neath Port 
Talbot We Want’ was published in May 2018.

 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
requires the Public Services Board to prepare and publish an 
Annual Report detailing progress.

 The report for 2018-19 is attached for information at 
Appendix 1.

 The report enables the Members to gauge the extent of 
progress and also to consider whether to exercise the 

Tudalen11

Eitem yr Agenda3



powers of scrutiny outlined in the Act and to reflect this in the 
Committee’s Forward Work Programme.

Background:

Section 36 of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015 places a duty on public services boards to:

“improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural 
well-being of its area by contributing to the achievement of the 
well-being goals (S36(1)).

A public services board’s contribution to the achievement of the 
goals must include (S36(2)):

a) assessing the state of economic, social, environmental 
and cultural well-being in its area

b) setting objectives that are designed to maximise its 
contribution within its area to achieving those goals, and

c) the taking of all reasonable steps by members of the 
board (in exercising their functions) to meet those 
objectives

In 2017, the Neath Port Talbot Public Services Board published its 
Well-being Assessment, discharging a) above.  

The Neath Port Talbot Public Services Board published its Well-
being Plan for the county borough – “The Neath Port Talbot We 
Want” – in May 2018, following a comprehensive assessment of 
the well-being of the local population and extensive consultation 
and engagement with a wide range of stakeholders.

Section 45 of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015 sets out requirements for local public services boards to 
prepare and publish annual progress reports. S 45 (1) states:

Tudalen12



‘A public services board must prepare and publish a report – no 
later than 14 months after the publications of its local well-being 
plan, and subsequently no later than one year after the publication 
of each previous report ..’

S 45 (3) states:

‘A report under this section must specify the steps taken since the 
publication of the board’s most recent local well-being plan to meet 
the objectives set out in the plan.’

Summary of Progress
Neath Port Talbot PSB agreed to focus on four well-being 
objectives:

1. To improve the well-being of children in their early years, 
especially those at risk of adverse childhood experience 
(Lead: Lead Director for Children and Young People, NPT 
Council)

2. To build safe, confident and resilient communities (Lead: 
Director of Social Services and Housing, NPT Council and 
Director of NPTCVS)

3. To create an environment where everyone can age well 
(Lead: Deputy Chief Fire Officer, Mid and West Wales Fire 
and Rescue Service)

4. To support well-being through work and in the workplace 
(Lead: Chair, Swansea Bay Health Board)

And also two cross cutting issues:

5. Protecting and enhancing our green infrastructure (Lead: 
Regional Manager, Natural Resources Wales)

6. Increasing level of digital participation/inclusion (Lead: 
Assistant Chief Executive, NPT Council)

In pages 6- 20 of the report arrangements for taking each objective 
forward are set out and include partners/stakeholders involved, key 
achievements during 2018-19, a case study and next steps.

Tudalen13



Other areas of work progressed by the Public Service Board are:
 Board Development
 Town and Community Councils
 Substance misuse
 Early Years
 Suicide Prevention
 Physical Activity Alliance

Detail of these workstreams can be found in pages 21-23.

Neath Port Talbot Public Services Board has also engaged in 
collaborative work with the public services boards of Swansea and 
Bridgend.
Some common themes to be explored in the next year have been 
identified and these are detailed on page 24.

Financial Impacts: 
Resources to implement the Plan have been identified from a 
range of sources as there is no new money available to fund the 
intentions of the Plan.

Integrated Impact Assessment:
An Integrated Impact Assessment was undertaken at the time that 
the Plan was published.  No further update is warranted at this 
time.

Valleys Communities Impacts: 
As the various workstreams are developed explicit consideration is 
being given to the needs of valley communities e.g. the building 
safe, resilient communities objective has two pilots – one in an 
urban area and one in a valley area.

Workforce Impacts:
It is too early to identify specific impacts, however the Well-being of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 expects all public bodies to 

Tudalen14



adopt a different approach to the improvement of well-being and 
this will require reskilling and remodelling of service delivery.

Legal Impacts:
Section 45 of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015 sets out requirements for local public services boards to 
prepare and publish annual progress reports. S 45 (1) states:

‘A public services board must prepare and publish a report – no 
later than 14 months after the publications of its local well-being 
plan, and subsequently no later than one year after the publication 
of each previous report ..’

S 45 (3) states:

‘A report under this section must specify the steps taken since the 
publication of the board’s most recent local well-being plan to meet 
the objectives set out in the plan.’

Risk Management Impacts: 
Failure to produce and publish the Annual Progress Report could 
potentially lead to the Future Generations Commissioner 
exercising her powers to conduct a review into the extent to which 
the Board (where the Leader and Chief Executive are members) 
are meeting duties under the Act which could lead to action also by 
Welsh ministers. This could impact on the Council reputationally 
and also lead to additional resources being required to meet the 
duties.

There is a risk of the work of the Board impacting on the Council’s 
resources, disrupting delivery of the Council’s own Corporate Plan. 
This has been mitigated by ensuring there is good alignment 
between the priorities proposed by the Board and the Council’s 
own priorities. Scrutiny members were satisfied that the six 
priorities for action were relevant and aligned with the Council’s 
own priorities. However, the Committee has highlighted the 
potential for the work proposed by the Board to impact on the 
allocation of existing resources and has made clear that the 

Tudalen15



Council must be consulted prior to any such changes being 
introduced by the Board.

Consultation:
There is no requirement for external consultation on this item

Recommendations: 
For Members to note the Annual report of the Public Services 
Board and to indicate whether future scrutiny of aspects of the 
report should feature in the Forward Work Programme.

Reasons for Proposed Decision: 
To enable the committee to discharge the role given to it by 
Council, i.e. to discharge the power of scrutiny contained in the 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.

Implementation of Decision:
After the three day call in period.

Appendices: 
Neath Port Talbot Public Services Board Annual Report

List of Background Papers:

Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/pdfs/anaw_20150002_en.pdf

Shared Purpose: Shared Future, Statutory Guidance on the Well-
being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, SPSF:1, SPSF2; 
SPSF3
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-02/spsf-1-core-
guidance.PDF

Tudalen16

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/pdfs/anaw_20150002_en.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-02/spsf-1-core-guidance.PDF
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-02/spsf-1-core-guidance.PDF


https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-02/spsf-2-individual-
role-public-bodies.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-02/spsf-3-collective-
role-public-services-boards.pdf

The Neath Port Talbot Public Services Board Well-being 
Assessment
http://wellbeingsite.dns-systems.net/index.php/en/home/

The Neath Port Talbot Public Services Board- The Neath Port 
Talbot We Want (Well-being Plan 2018-2023) 
http://www.nptpsb.org.uk/downloads/Well-being%20Plan.pdf

Officer Contact:
Karen Jones, Assistant Chief Executive and Chief Digital Officer, 
Tel: 01639 763284 e-mail: k.jones3@npt.gov.uk

Tudalen17

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-02/spsf-2-individual-role-public-bodies.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-02/spsf-2-individual-role-public-bodies.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-02/spsf-3-collective-role-public-services-boards.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-02/spsf-3-collective-role-public-services-boards.pdf
http://wellbeingsite.dns-systems.net/index.php/en/home/
http://www.nptpsb.org.uk/downloads/Well-being%20Plan.pdf
mailto:k.jones3@npt.gov.uk


Mae’r dudalen hon yn fwriadol wag



Annual Report                 
May 2018 –June 2019

     
     

Tudalen19



1
Neath Port Talbot PSB Annual Report 2019

Contents
Foreword .................................................................................................3
Our Vision and Well-being Objectives .................................................4

Context .................................................................................................4
Vision ....................................................................................................5
Well-being Objectives 2018-2023.........................................................6
Governance ..........................................................................................7

A Summary of Progress ........................................................................9
Well-being Objective One – Early Years: .............................................9
Well-being Objective Two – Safe Resilient Communities:..................13
Well-being Objective Three – Ageing Well: ........................................17
Well-being Objective Four – Well-being in the Workplace:.................21
Well-being Objective Five – Green Infrastructure:..............................23
Well-being Objective Six – Digital Inclusion........................................27

Other Work Progressed by the Neath Port Talbot Public Services 
Board in 2018-19...................................................................................30

Board Development ............................................................................30
Town and Community Councils ..........................................................30
Substance Misuse ..............................................................................30
Early Years .........................................................................................31
Suicide Prevention..............................................................................32
Physical Activity Alliance ....................................................................32
Collaborative Working.........................................................................33

How can you track progress and get involved in our work? ...........35

Tudalen20



2
Neath Port Talbot PSB Annual Report 2019

Foreword

The Neath Port Talbot Public Services Board published its Well-being 
Plan for the county borough – “The Neath Port Talbot We Want” – in 
May 2018, following a comprehensive assessment of the well-being of 
the local population and extensive consultation and engagement with a 
wide range of stakeholders.

This is our first annual report on the progress we are making towards the 
priorities we set out in our Plan. In addition to reviewing progress over 
the first twelve months, the Plan also looks forward to the next 12 month 
period and summarises the focus of work in the next planning period. 

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires us to 
secure the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of 
local people and to do so sustainably. Whilst it is early days, there is 
evidence we are beginning to respond to the challenges set in the 
legislation for us to work together in different ways –between 
organisations and between organisations and our communities.

We hope you will be interested in the work we are doing and would 
welcome ideas and contributions that can bring about change that 
creates the Neath Port Talbot we all want.

Cllr Rob Jones Roger Thomas

Chairperson Vice-Chairperson

Tudalen21



3
Neath Port Talbot PSB Annual Report 2019

Our Vision and Well-being Objectives

Context

The Welsh Government established public services boards to encourage 
local organisations to work together and with the local population to 
improve the well-being of the people who live in their area. The way in 
which the Welsh Government wants to see this carried out in practice is 
set out in the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and 
other guidance.

The Neath Port Talbot Public Services Board held its first meeting in 
May 2016. It brings together a range of agencies whose details can be 
found in the appendices. (Appendix 1)

The first main task the Board was required to undertake was a 
comprehensive assessment of the well-being of the local population. Our 
Well-being Assessment includes a range of statistical information about 
the many things that can impact on well-being such as: levels of crime 
and disorder; and educational attainment etc., as well as data about 
aspects of well-being such as: mortality rates; and prevalence of disease 
etc. The Assessment also gathered views from a wide range of people 
to provide the Board with insight into what people consider is important 
to their own well-being, what’s good about the current situation and what 
needs to be improved most. Finally, the Well-being Assessment included 
a Future Trends Report which set out a number of issues likely to impact 
on well-being over the next 30 years or more. For example, climate 
change risks; the growth in digital technologies; food and fuel supplies – 
to list just a few examples.

Tudalen22



4
Neath Port Talbot PSB Annual Report 2019

The Well-being Assessment was published on our website and its 
findings were used by the Board to prepare our Well-being Plan and the 
priorities contained within that Plan. In deciding upon the priorities, the 
Board felt it was important to select issues where the Board had the 
opportunity to make the biggest difference. The Board consulted on the 
draft Plan over the autumn of 2017 and took into account views provided 
from stakeholders, together with advice provided by the Future 
Generations Commissioner, when finalising its initial programme of work. 
The Well-being Plan was published in May 2018.

You can find out more about our Well-being Assessment and our Well-
being Plan by following these links: 

Assessment http://wellbeingsite.dns-systems.net/index.php/en/home/

Plan http://www.nptpsb.org.uk/

Vision 

We want Neath Port Talbot to be a vibrant and healthy place where 
people have an equal chance to get on in life – a place where people 
want to live, learn, work, invest and visit for many generations to come.

We want local public services, including the Third Sector, to be effective 
and value for money, easy for people to use, and offer quality 
employment where people are valued and appreciated for the work they 
do. Together with citizens, we will build on our strong and cohesive 
communities where the rights of everyone will be respected and 
protected.

We want our public services to be focused on enabling people and 
communities to be resilient and it will be the norm for citizens to 
experience seamless, personalised, high quality services. Public service 
delivery will create the right conditions for investment that will enable the 
county borough to attract and sustain quality, sustainable employment 
for local people.

Tudalen23

http://wellbeingsite.dns-systems.net/index.php/en/home/
http://www.nptpsb.org.uk/


5
Neath Port Talbot PSB Annual Report 2019

Our communities will be well connected through a first class digital and 
transport infrastructure and our natural environment will be protected but 
also developed to support healthy living and investment.

We will have achieved our vision when all children and young people 
have the best start in life; when all young people and adults have the 
skills and resilience to be healthy and prosperous; when people are safe 
and feel safe; when all of our communities are thriving and supporting 
the people who live there; and where people can draw on the support of 
neighbours and well-developed social networks.

Well-being Objectives 2018-2023

We decided to focus on four well-being objectives:

1. To improve the well-being of children in their early years, 
especially those at risk of adverse childhood experience (Lead: 
Lead Director for Children and Young People, NPT Council);

2. To build safe, confident and resilient communities, focusing on 
vulnerable people (Lead: Director of Social Services, Health and 
Housing, NPT Council and Director of Neath Port Talbot CVS);

3. To create an environment where everyone can age well (Lead: 
Deputy Chief Fire Officer, Mid and West Wales Fire and Rescue 
Service); and

4. To support well-being through work and in the workplace (Lead: 
Chair, Swansea Bay Health Board).

However, through discussion we also decided to address two cross-
cutting issues:

5. Protecting and enhancing our green infrastructure (Lead: Regional 
Manager, Natural Resources Wales);

6. Increasing levels of digital participation/inclusion (Lead: Assistant 
Chief Executive, Council).

Tudalen24



6
Neath Port Talbot PSB Annual Report 2019

Governance

Each well-being objective and cross-cutting theme has been 
led/sponsored by a member of the NPT Public Services Board. The Plan 
set out a range of steps that the Board intended to take to achieve the 
well-being objectives or themes. Each lead officer has drawn together a 
range of stakeholders to work out how the steps might be best 
progressed. There have also been regular meetings of the lead officers 
to ensure that the work of the Board is seen holistically.

In developing the detail of the work programmes, lead officers have also 
tried to embrace the sustainable development principle:

 Integration – considering how the PSB’s contribution to the well-
being objectives may impact upon each of the Welsh 
Government’s well-being goals, on its own well-being objectives 
and on the objectives of other public bodies;

 Collaboration – acting in collaboration with any other persons (or 
different parts of the PSB itself) that could help the PSB to meet its 
well-being objectives;

 Involvement – the importance of involving people with an interest 
in achieving the well-being goals and ensuring that those people 
reflect the diversity of the area which the body serves;

 Prevention – how acting to prevent people occurring or getting 
worse may help public bodies meet their objectives; and

 Long Term – the importance of balancing short-term needs with 
the need to safeguard the ability to also meet long term needs.

 

Tudalen25



7
Neath Port Talbot PSB Annual Report 2019

Lead officers have also considered how their work contributes to the 
well-being goals established by the Welsh Government in the Well-being 
of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:

 A prosperous Wales;
 A resilient Wales;
 A healthier Wales;
 A more equal Wales;
 A Wales of cohesive communities;
 A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language; and
 A globally responsible Wales.

In the next section you will find a summary of what we have done so far 
and what we plan to focus on in the next twelve months.

During the year, the Neath Port Talbot Public Services Board also came 
together with the City and County of Swansea Public Services Board 
and agreed that acting jointly on the rate of drug-related deaths, levels of 
serious infections acquired through opioid injecting practices and a new 
phenomenon – county lines – required a heightened, multi-agency 
response. You can read more about this work later in this document.

The Board also participated in a number of programmes run by the 
Welsh Government and explored how it might collaborate regionally and 
locally in moving its work forward. Some of the ideas we have generated 
as to how we could do this are also set out later in this report.

Tudalen26



8
Neath Port Talbot PSB Annual Report 2019

A Summary of Progress

Well-being Objective One – Early Years:

To improve the well-being of children in their early years, especially 
those at risk of adverse childhood experience (Lead: Lead Director for 
Children and Young People, NPT Council).

Partners/Stakeholders Involved:

Children and Young People’s Partnership; families, community groups, 
service providers and schools in the Sandfields West area; local elected 
members in the Sandfields West area; First 1,000 Days Programme; 
Early Action Together; Early Years Pathfinder Programme; Families 
Connect; Flying Start; Families First. 

Key Achievements during 2018-19:

A multi-agency group was established to develop a children’s community 
zone in Sandfields West - a pilot project based on similar work 
undertaken in Hackney, London. Key principles and a vision have been 
developed in partnership to guide the project. The learning from the pilot 
will be used to develop approaches across the county borough to secure 
a more cohesive and collaborative approach to supporting children in 
their early years. The project has a delivery plan that identifies key 
actions and milestones. Progress is monitored against these aspects.  

All early years and primary school 
provision in the area was mapped 
as were those services that support 
parents and young people when 
they become adults. An external 
consultant also undertook 
engagement with parents and 
organisations working and living in 
the area.

During the year the Neath Port Talbot Public Services Board also agreed 
to participate in the Welsh Government’s First 1,000 Days Programme. 

Tudalen27



9
Neath Port Talbot PSB Annual Report 2019

This programme considers the period from conception to the age of 2 
years of age and seeks to identify those families where there is a risk 
that children in this age range could experience adverse childhood 
experiences. There is now significant evidence that when children have 
such experiences that their well-being can be severely affected. An early 
action in the Programme was to get all front line practitioners together to 
discuss how well the existing early years services work. As well as 
providing the foundation of work that will be taken forward by the 
Children and Young People’s Partnership, the event also helped identify 
some gaps in provision in the Sandfields West area, as well as 
highlighting features of services in the area that were seen to be working 
well.

Early consideration has been given by partners to the issue of 
information sharing. Whilst there are a range of good information sharing 
arrangements in place, it was agreed that some information sharing 
protocols need to be improved to ensure they can effectively support the 
needs of children in their early years and in preparing children for 
school; in particular, for those families who would benefit most from 
additional support.

Towards the end of the year, Welsh Government also sought interest 
from public services boards for participation in an early years pathfinder 
programme. It was agreed that it would be useful to become involved in 
the pathfinder programme so that the local work can benefit from the 
research and learning that will be developed across Wales. The 
pathfinder is a joint project with Swansea Council and this will provide 

Tudalen28



10
Neath Port Talbot PSB Annual Report 2019

opportunities for us to share practice on a wider basis and develop 
shared approaches where appropriate. Furthermore, the Police and 
Crime Commissioner secured a transformation grant to focus work on 
early years – Early Action Together. Discussions are underway to 
ensure that there is coherence across all of these programmes with a 
clear focus on testing the new approaches as part of the pilot project in 
the Sandfields West area.

A Case Study:

Since October 2018, the local authority has employed a 30 hour per 
week Children’s Community Lead to engage with identified families and 
to coordinate activities aimed at:

 Promoting better parenting;
 Ante-natal support with health visitors;
 Emotional health and well-being support;
 Sleep clinic;
 Advising parents on routes back into work in partnership with 

Communities Work+;
 And a range of other activities.

These activities are delivered from a 
purposefully modified family friendly 
space located at Tir Morfa.

During a three month period we have 
engaged with 59 partners and 53 
participants have been directly 
supported.

In one instance, a parent who had 
clearly disengaged with support 
services met with the Children’s 
Community Lead at a coffee morning 
event and reported social emotional 
issues with her teenage daughter. This 
led to a detailed discussion and a 
building of trust between the employee 

and the parent. As a result, the parent self-referred to SPOC (single 
point of contact) to seek more specialist support for both her and her 

Tudalen29



11
Neath Port Talbot PSB Annual Report 2019

daughter. The parent has reported a significant level of trust in the 
Children’s Community Lead and feels able to discuss issues openly that 
would, otherwise, have been causing significant tension and anxiety 
within the family setting. 

This demonstrates the value of building relationships with community 
members and breaking down barriers that are clearly causing difficulties 
for individual families. The current model is based on high visibility and 
activity aimed at securing quality engagement with families. 

Families engaging with this model generally report a higher level of 
confidence in being able to talk about issues in their lives and in their 
ability to seek support. The current feedback from families shows that 
support in relation to emotional health and wellbeing, behaviour and 
parenting are the key priorities. The engagement sessions inform future 
provision and allow us to develop a more coherent early intervention and 
prevention approach. 

Next Steps

 Agree criteria to identify ‘vulnerable’ families.
 Identify any gaps in provision. This has been underpinned by work 

undertaken in conjunction with the First 1000 days workshop that 
has allowed us to benefit from a range of views and insights from 
service providers. 

 Identify barriers to accessing services.
 Establish a local reference group (include children and young 

people).
 Develop an appropriate evaluation framework to understand the 

effectiveness of the Children’s Community model, in terms of 
community participation and impact on users.

Tudalen30



12
Neath Port Talbot PSB Annual Report 2019

Well-being Objective Two – Safe Resilient Communities:

To build safe, confident and resilient communities, focusing on 
vulnerable people (Lead: Director of Social Services, Health and 
Housing, Council and Director of Neath Port Talbot CVS).

Partners/Stakeholders Involved:

Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council; South Wales Police; Neath 
Port Talbot Council for Voluntary Services; Swansea Bay Health Board; 
Tai Tarian; Public Health Wales; Mid and West Wales Fire Service; 
elected members of Neath Port Talbot Council; elected members of 
town and community councils in the Melyn, Neath, Briton Ferry and 
Amman Valley; community groups; local shop keepers; faith leaders; 
volunteers and residents; as well as service providers and community 
leaders in the two pilot areas of Melyn/Briton Ferry and Amman Valley; 
West Glamorgan Regional Partnership Board.

Key Achievements during 2018-19:

A leadership group has been formed with chief officer representatives 
drawn from Public Services Board partners. The leadership group is 
supported by a Strategic Group, chaired by an officer from the Swansea 
Bay Health Board which draws together those service managers and 
stakeholders that can help move this work forward. Two operational 
groups are in the process of being established – one for each of the pilot 
areas with the intention that membership of these groups will be drawn 
from those who are working on the front line within the communities 
concerned.

A wide ranging engagement exercise of key community leaders was 
carried out by the Director of Social Services, Health and Housing and 
the Director of the Neath Port Talbot Council for Voluntary Services to 
test support for the work. Additionally, a number of workshop sessions 
have been held for the leadership group and strategic group to secure a 
shared vision and commitment to the programme.

A Transformation Bid was made through the Regional Partnership Board 
for financial resources to deliver the work in the two pilot areas. This 
funding will be targeted at building community capacity and at training 
the public services (including the Third Sector) workforces. It is intended 

Tudalen31



13
Neath Port Talbot PSB Annual Report 2019

that the benefits of working in an asset-based model will be evaluated 
prior to scaling the approach up across other areas of the county 
borough.

Community asset mapping has begun and the first phase of a 
communications and engagement plan has also been developed. 
Additionally, the workforces operating in the two areas have been 
assessed and a proposed training plan has been developed. A small 
number of dedicated posts are to be established to support the work in 
both statutory agencies and in the Third Sector.

Following reflection, it has been agreed that the work will not focus 
exclusively on vulnerable people but will include the whole of the 
community.

 

A Case Study:

Every community has assets, facilities, businesses, parks, forests but 
most importantly the people and their capacities, organised community 
groups and individuals who have skills and talents.  All these need to be 
mapped to create a picture of the community which shows its capacity 
and potential.

An asset based approach is a shift in mind set and practice for people 
who want to work with communities on issues of importance.  The 
programme is about focussing on what is strong not what is wrong with 
our communities.  It aims to make enough small changes to begin a 
culture change in how communities support each other.

Together we’ve learned that approaches need to be flexible and 
adaptable, recognising the uniqueness of people and places.  If we are 
to do things differently, we need to be more experimental, learning from 
what does and doesn’t work in practice.  That is what the Building Safe 
and Resilient Communities aims to do.  Local Area Coordinators have a 
key role to play in supporting communities to support themselves.  An 
example of such pieces of work involving Local Area Coordinators is 
narrated below:

Tudalen32



14
Neath Port Talbot PSB Annual Report 2019

Breaking the isolation

A referral was received from a housing association regarding an ex-
service man. As a result of health issues he has become more house 
bound than he was used to being, having previously always been very 
active, with a love for art and dogs.   Although he was faced with 
challenges as a result of his health, he did not want to have a carer or 
other social support because he did not want to be, as he felt he would 
be, a nuisance or burden to others.   He agreed to meet with the Local 
Area Coordinator, who explored his rich and creative past,   in doing so, 
discovered he had been a film extra on several locally made films and 
TV programmes.    This has led to setting up at a local film club a special 
screening of those films he was in with a question and answer session 
afterwards.     This has now led him to being more outward focused 
again, which was what he needed to prevent his isolated state

The Local Area Coordinators often meet those who have become 
socially isolated, many have interests and talents, but due to life events 
such as divorces, bereavements and health issues have lost the 
confidence to engage with others. Working towards those interests can 
lead to bringing small groups together, such as gardening clubs, craft 
groups and social gatherings such as dining clubs.  

Last Christmas, a Local Area Coordinator pulled all of the groups she 
knew about into a Christmas Party. During the party, one could hear 
stories of how those involved would describe their feelings of loneliness 
and isolation prior to becoming a part of the small local groups and how 
things had improved and changed for them as a result of their 
participation. The party was not only a celebration of Christmas but also 
in many ways a celebration of those Community Champions who had 
pulled together 96 isolated individuals to a very special Christmas Event. 

Next Steps 

The next steps for 2019-20 are:

1. Recruit a dedicated staff team to work on the programme and 
ensure there is a common understanding of the aims of the 
programme. 

Tudalen33



15
Neath Port Talbot PSB Annual Report 2019

2. Implement the communication plan and process for 
communicating the programme to all partners, agencies, 
communities and individuals.

3. Establish an operational group for each of the pilot areas to identify 
assets and opportunities for development within the community.   

4. Establish, promote and administer a community grant scheme in 
each of the pilot areas to support community activity.  

5. Review progress of the programme, identify the challenges and 
celebrate its achievements.

Tudalen34



16
Neath Port Talbot PSB Annual Report 2019

Well-being Objective Three – Ageing Well:

To create an environment where everyone can age well (Lead: Deputy 
Chief Fire Officer, Mid and West Wales Fire and Rescue Service).

Partners/Stakeholders Involved:

Older Persons Commissioner; Mid and West Wales Fire Services; 
Department for Work and Pensions; Neath Port Talbot County Borough 
Council; South Wales Police; Neath Port Talbot Council for Voluntary 
Services; Swansea Bay Health Board; Hywel Dda Health Board; Tai 
Tarian; Public Health Wales; Altzheimer’s Society;

Key Achievements during 2018-19:

Training to raise awareness and understanding of dementia was carried 
out, supported by funding sourced from the Western Bay Regional 
Partnership Board;

An expression of interest to work towards the Altzheimer’s Society’s 
recognition standard for being a dementia friendly community was 
registered and preliminary work completed to enable the Neath Port 
Talbot PSB to work towards recognition.

Links were made with the Falls Prevention Group within the Swansea 
Bay Health Board. It was identified that the Public Services’ Board work 
could most usefully concentrate on primary prevention activities, with the 
Regional Partnership Board concentrating on secondary and tertiary 
prevention. This will avoid duplication and ensure both partnerships work 
in alignment and add value to each other’s work. 

Preliminary work was undertaken to assess the scale and scope of work 
to address loneliness and isolation affecting people in the county 
borough. The assessment has shown that this affects people of all ages 
and that whilst some people can be supported in community settings, for 
others, one to one support is required – at least in the initial stages.

Tai Tarian has progressed its work to address high cost credit and 
indebtedness experienced by their tenants. Working within the wider 
Alliance established by locally born actor Michael Sheen, Tai Tarian has 
developed a very detailed understanding of how the cycle of debt 
develops, the risks and opportunities to support people out of such 

Tudalen35



17
Neath Port Talbot PSB Annual Report 2019

circumstances as well as wider system changes that are needed for the 
long term. This work has the potential to have much wider application in 
the county borough.

South Wales Police have identified that older people often do not report 
crime and disorder. This finding will be fed into the Community Safety 
Partners – Safer Neath Port Talbot – for action.

Arrangements to support older people into work have also been 
considered within the group. There are a range of support services and 
programmes available within the county borough that can support older 
people to remain in employment or to secure employment but there are 
also barriers to employment for this age group which need to be 
explored in more detail. The Department for Work and Pensions has 
agreed to lead the next phase of work.

As well as getting work off the ground in relation to each of the areas of 
focus that was agreed by the Public Services Board and set out in the 
Well-being Plan, work has also been developed in relation to information 
sharing. Expertise has been identified to support partners to ensure, 
where needed, information can be shared confidently and legally. 

Adopting the Making Every Contact Count model has also been 
considered. The approach is regarded as having significant potential for 
developing a public services workforce that adopts a common 
philosophy to the way in which each worker interacts with other workers 
and the public, with an emphasis on prevention and early intervention. 
Positive results already achieved by the Hywel Dda Health Board have 
been shared with Neath Port Talbot partners.

After an enthusiastic start to the work, progress was disrupted in the 
middle of the year as a result of key officers moving to different roles 
within their agencies. Towards the end of the year, there has been 
renewed engagement which should see positive progress made in the 
next reporting period.

A Case Study:

A household in Wales is in fuel poverty if they spend 10% or more of 
their income, including Housing Benefit, Income Support or Council Tax 
Benefit, on energy costs.

Tudalen36



18
Neath Port Talbot PSB Annual Report 2019

In 2015 around 291,000 households, equivalent to 23% of all 
households in Wales, were living in fuel poverty.  For customers in social 
housing, the rate of fuel poverty is higher again, estimated at 27% in 
2015.  Whilst exact figures have proved elusive it is to be expected that, 
following every other social indices for Neath Port Talbot, it is to be 
found in the upper end of the spectrum.

The energy poverty premium means that those who can least afford 
energy are amongst those who have to pay the most. Tariffs in pre-
payment meters are the highest. Premium periods are during the day 
which impacts on the housebound and unemployed.

Tai Tarian is one of the largest social landlords in Wales and has 
responsibility for over 9,000 properties across the Neath Port Talbot 
County Borough. They are committed to providing good quality housing 
and a range of services to help people manage their homes.

Tai Tarian are currently exploring options to provide new and existing 
tenants with access to cheaper fuel prices. If successful this scheme will 
provide access to lower prepayment tariffs and will hopefully ensure that 
their tariff remains within the lower quartile. Tai Tarian are also exploring 
the option of installing Smart Meters which, in turn, will help tenants 
manage their budgets. Therefore, there are no estimated bills which 
mitigate tenants getting into debt. 

Whilst these initiatives are still in the development stage it is hoped that, 
if introduced, the impact of high fuel costs for low income families will be 
radically reduced.

Next Steps 

1. To design and deliver a ‘Making Every Contact Count’ (MECC) 
approach to fulfil the aims and objectives of the Ageing Well Strategy 
Group.

2. To provide MECC training to multi-agency frontline staff. 
3. To provide an evaluative framework to measure short, medium and 

long term progress.

Overview

MECC is an approach that utilises the millions of day to day interactions 
that our front line staff have with residents to support them in making 
positive changes to their physical health and well-being. MECC enables 

Tudalen37



19
Neath Port Talbot PSB Annual Report 2019

the opportunistic delivery of consistent and concise healthy lifestyle 
information and enables individuals to engage in conversations about 
their health.

In order to achieve this objective it is proposed that training is delivered 
to public and third sector frontline staff to assist in the delivery of these 
key messages to our residents. 

This training will enable frontline staff to provide information and key 
messages in respect of the following:

 Public Health 
 Fire Safety 
 Crime Prevention
 Combating loneliness and social isolation
 Fuel Poverty
 Dementia Awareness

For staff, MECC means having the competence and confidence to 
deliver healthy lifestyle messages and the encouragement for people to 
change their behaviour and to signpost to local services that can support 
them to change. 

MECC is not about:

 Adding another job to already busy working days 
 Staff becoming specialists or experts in certain lifestyle areas 
 Staff becoming counsellors or providing ongoing support to particular 

individuals 
 Staff telling somebody what to do and how to live their life. 

In addition the MECC project will need to ensure that stakeholders are 
compliant with the GDPR in relation to sharing of data. 

Tudalen38



20
Neath Port Talbot PSB Annual Report 2019

Well-being Objective Four – Well-being in the Workplace:

To support well-being through work and in the workplace (Lead: Chair, 
Swansea Bay Health Board).

Partners/Stakeholders Involved:

Swansea Bay Health Board; Ford Motor Company; Tai Tarian; Neath 
Port Talbot County Borough Council; Mid and West Wales Fire and 
Rescue Service; Natural Resources Wales; Neath Port Talbot Council 
for Voluntary Services; Public Health Wales.

Key Achievements during 2018-19:

It was agreed that the initial focus of work would concentrate on how 
improvements to well-being could be leveraged through the PSB partner 
organisations in their role as significant employers in the local area.

An initial workshop saw existing well-being programmes and initiatives in 
place in each of the PSB partner agencies being shared and recorded. 
Contact details for those interested in following up information shared at 
the workshop event were also shared.

A second workshop included presentations from Ford Motor Company 
and Healthy Working Wales with Tai Tarian and Public Health Wales 
describing how well-being initiatives might be measured and used to 
deliver further improvements in well-being through the workplace.

The disaggregation of the ABMU Health Board impacted on the degree 
of momentum that could be generated for this priority during the year, as 
the Health Board and associated partners were required to prioritise the 
work needed to transfer health services for the people of Bridgend to 
Cwm Taf Morgannwg Health Board. However, partners remain 
committed to this objective and 2019-20 should see more significant 
progress.

A Case Study:

Partners have shared best practice in supporting and promoting staff 
health and wellbeing within their organisations and offers to share 
developments across partner organisations have been made.

Tudalen39



21
Neath Port Talbot PSB Annual Report 2019

SBU colleagues presented the Staff Wellbeing Service that enables staff 
to access timely support for musculoskeletal and common mental health 
conditions via a single point of telephone access. This is supported and 
promoted by a network of over 340 Wellbeing Champions who receive 
training and development opportunities by attending bi-annual 
workshops, informing them of internal and external support to which they 
can signpost team members. The Champions also promote National 
health campaigns and facilitate wellbeing initiatives within their 
workplaces.       

Next Steps

The following areas have emerged for potential focus in 2019-20 and 
members have been asked to consider their contributions and priorities:

1. All members to review the “asks” and “offers” from the first workshop 
and to take this forward by making the connections themselves.

2. Members to share their health & wellbeing promotion campaigns or 
their approach to implementing National campaigns in order to 
promote ideas/good practice and reduce duplication of work. 

3. Mental Health – interested members to work toward a joint strategy.
4. Mental Health Manager Training - possibilities of joint commissioning.
5. Measure and Metrics task and finish group – this was an action 

agreed at the October workshop but capacity to undertake the work 
appears limited at the present time.

6.  All members to ensure consistent attendance to the group/meetings 
of staff that are in a decision making position within their 
organisations to ensure progression of work and action to take the 
work forward.

7. Consideration be given to including other major employers in the 
area, e.g. the DVLA, Tata Steel, etc., in this well-being work stream)

Dedicated Project management resource will be required to ensure the 
continuation of the work stream and to support partners in formulating 
and delivering agreed outcomes.

Tudalen40



22
Neath Port Talbot PSB Annual Report 2019

Well-being Objective Five – Green Infrastructure:

Protecting and enhancing our green infrastructure (Lead: Regional 
Manager, Natural Resources Wales.

Partners/Stakeholders Involved:

Natural Resources Wales; Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council; 
Swansea Bay Health Board; Public Health Wales; Bridgend CBC, City 
and County of Swansea Council; community groups and residents in the 
Taibach/Margam area.

Key Achievements during 2018-19:

A multi-agency steering group was formed to take forward the work set 
out in the Well-being Plan and this Group bid for and secured funding 
under the Welsh Government’s GI Capital Grant Programme.

More detailed mapping of the green and blue space in Neath Port Talbot 
was undertaken, building on the work done for the Area Statements and 
the Well-being Assessment. Demand and opportunity maps were 
created for a range of issues including: air quality; access to green 
space; flooding; and carbon sequestration. 

A pilot area was selected – Margam and Taibach – as a site where 
working together could deliver multiple benefits. Groeswen Playing 
Fields was identified for GI enhancement and design for the site was 
developed by landscape consultants. Local residents were involved 
throughout. 

The project is now at delivery stage which will provide seating; improved 
access; improvements to the mowing regime to support pollinator 
species; tree planting to benefit air quality; and building in benefits for 
biodiversity and the visual look of the area. Learning from the work is 
being captured to inform further work across the county borough.

In February 2019, a workshop was held with partners to explore areas 
that might be developed to support well-being. One of the immediate 
benefits of the workshop was to form a network of interested 
organisations and volunteers. Ideas of where the work on GI can support 
the other well-being objectives of the Public Services Board were also 

Tudalen41



23
Neath Port Talbot PSB Annual Report 2019

captured and will be considered by the Steering Group when deciding 
the actions to be taken forward in the next period.

A Case Study:

As part of our SW Area Statement process, we trialled a creative new 
approach to identifying opportunities to deliver SMNR. We combined the 
brains of our local experts, giant acetate maps and special coloured 
pens in an innovative workshop format. 

The session was designed as a hands-on way of identifying and 
exploring the opportunities to improve the resilience of our ecosystems. 
 We encouraged participants to discuss their idea with the group before 

choosing a unique colour and 
drawing their opportunity on 
the overlay of the map. Forms 
corresponding to each map-
drawn opportunity were filled 
out providing more detail 
about the opportunity and the 
issue/s it was aiming to 
resolve. 

 

So far, we have tested this internally with 
our BioCon colleagues and will be rolling 
this out to external groups over the coming 
months. We have had good feedback from 
the session - participants have said the 
format encouraged practical discussion, 
creativity of ideas, multifunctional working 
(breaking out of silos) and new ways to 
deliver multiple benefits. Most of all, it was 
a fun exercise!

Tudalen42



24
Neath Port Talbot PSB Annual Report 2019

Following the workshop we 
have digitised all the map 
polygons onto GIS (screen shot 
below). Each of the 
Opportunities have been 
entered onto EfAST 
(‘Engagement for Area 
Statements Tool’) for analysis 
and prioritisation later. When 
we look at the opportunities 
from across SW, we can look 
for hot-spot areas for delivery.

As part of our SW external engagement we plan to run similar 
participatory mapping sessions with our Local Nature Partnerships and 
at county-wide ‘Opportunity Workshops’ which will include a wide range 
of different stakeholders.  

Tudalen43



25
Neath Port Talbot PSB Annual Report 2019

Next Steps

The focus of the Core Group is likely to galvanize around a few key 
areas:-

 Education and awareness raising – role of GI in supporting 
wellbeing; what is good about the county (link to Nature plan)

 Developing networks for sharing information and ideas – what is 
going on and where; asset sharing (knowledge, skills, equipment, 
land, volunteer time);

 Developing best practice for GI enhancement – developing case 
studies; utilising public estate

Regional GI/ENRAW project – will build upon the learning from the initial 
project and facilitate further delivery of GI improvements/interventions.

Tudalen44



26
Neath Port Talbot PSB Annual Report 2019

Well-being Objective Six – Digital Inclusion

Tackle Digital Exclusion (Lead: Assistant Chief Executive, Neath Port 
Talbot County Borough Council)

Partners/Stakeholders Involved:

Natural Resources Wales; Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council; 
Swansea Bay Health Board; NPT College Group; South Wales Police; 
Mid and West Wales Fire and Rescue Service; Tai Tarian; Neath Port 
Talbot Council for Voluntary Service; Third Sector organisations; Digital 
Communities Wales; Department for Work and PensionsT; Rural 
Development Fund.

Key Achievements during 2018-19:

A Digital Inclusion Ambassador post was established with support of 
Rural Development Programme funding to help move the priorities for 
building capacity and capability in the local Third Sector forward. 

An awareness raising event was held in February 2019 for the Third 
Sector where information on raising funds on-line; accessing support 
from Digital Communities Wales; skills and training was available to 
those attending.

A Steering Group led by the Third Sector is now in place and will 
develop and implement a programme of work to build capacity and 
capability over time, supported by the Digital Inclusion Ambassador.

All PSB partner organisations were surveyed to establish how far they 
had been able to progress the commitment given by PSB partners to 
work to the Digital Inclusion Charter, supported by Digital Communities 
Wales. Whilst agencies are at different stages in their work, it is quite 
clear that the priority being given to this area by the PSB has raised the 
importance of tackling digital inclusion across agencies. 

The work done by partners to date has been captured in a matrix and 
this is being used within the Digital Inclusion Strategic Group to share 
learning and to generate mutual support amongst partners. Digital 
Communities Wales has engaged with the Strategic Group and it is 
hoped that this will lead to more agencies being confident to pursue 
formal accreditation against the Charter.

Tudalen45



27
Neath Port Talbot PSB Annual Report 2019

The importance of addressing digital inclusion has continuously been 
raised as a matter for consideration across all the well-being objectives 
as the other lead officers have developed their programmes of work to 
deliver the Well-being Plan.

South Wales Police have delivered a range of awareness raising 
activities across the county borough regarding cyber-crime prevention. 
As one of the barriers to digital participation, building trust and 
confidence to use on-line services safely is a key priority. The 
Community Safety Partnership – Safer Neath Port Talbot has adopted 
this as one of its three priorities in 2019-20 with early action focused on 
identifying a set of common messages that all partnerships can convey 
in the course of their day to day work to help more people stay safe on-
line.

A Case Study:

We have learned that cyber-crime is now a very significant threat as 
more and more people use the Internet to support their daily lives. Whilst 
many of us will be familiar with cases of fraud - for example when people 
steal your on-line identity and use that to commit crime – we have 
become aware of a much wider range of risks and threats that we need 

Tudalen46



28
Neath Port Talbot PSB Annual Report 2019

to address as part of our work. For example, people using the Internet to 
help them find a partner can find themselves being hoodwinked by 
unscrupulous people not even resident in the UK; the Internet is also a 
space where there is significant exploitation of vulnerable people taking 
place  - child sexual exploitation; radicalisation for terrorist or extremist 
purposes – being two of many examples; and offences of harassment 
and stalking on line are also seeing an increase as more and more 
people use social media accounts in daily life.

There are significant benefits to be gained from being on-line so it is 
vitally important that we all work together to ensure that people have the 
skills, knowledge and confident to use the Internet safely.

Next Steps

1. Continue to build capacity and capability across the local Third 
Sector, supported by the Digital Inclusion Ambassador and Digital 
Communities Wales

2. Deliver a cyber-crime prevention campaign across the county 
borough, through the Safer Neath Port Talbot partnership.

3. Continue to encourage PSB partner agencies to work towards 
formal accreditation against the Digital Inclusion Charter. Facilitate 
a Strategic Forum where agencies can share the detail of this work 
and identify areas where joint action would be beneficial.

4. Continue to raise the profile of digital inclusion across the Public 
Services Board’s other areas of work.

5. Start to explore how the Get NPT On-Line network can be 
strengthened and how it might play a long term role in sustaining 
progress in this area of work.

6. Establish how the digital capacity and capability of the private 
sector locally is being addressed.

Tudalen47



29
Neath Port Talbot PSB Annual Report 2019

Other Work Progressed by the Neath Port Talbot Public 
Services Board in 2018-19

Board Development

The Board took up the offer of training and development from Academi 
Wales. The training focused on the governance issues that need to be in 
place to support effective joint working arrangements. Further 
development opportunities for the Board will be explored in the next 
planning period.

Town and Community Councils

During the year, as well as having a representative from town and 
community councils on the Board itself, discussions took place with 
those town and community councils who have duties placed upon them 
by the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. Each of 
those town and community councils have prepared statements that set 
out how they are supporting the achievement of the well-being 
objectives set out in the Well-being Plan and those statements will be 
formally considered by the Public Services Board to inform its work 
going forward. 

A copy of the statement provided by Blaenhonddan Community Council 
is available via the link below:

http://www.blaenhonddan-wcc.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Annual-Report-
2019.pdf

Links to the statements provided by Neath Town Council and Coedffranc 
Town Council will be added once they are published on their websites 
later this year.

Substance Misuse

Following reports of high levels of drug-related deaths; serious infection 
and a growth in organised crime across the area, the two public services 
boards of Neath Port Talbot and Swansea agreed that a heightened 
level of attention was required across agencies. A Critical Incident Group 
was formed with membership drawn from a wide range of agencies to 

Tudalen48

http://www.blaenhonddan-wcc.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Annual-Report-2019.pdf
http://www.blaenhonddan-wcc.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Annual-Report-2019.pdf


30
Neath Port Talbot PSB Annual Report 2019

assess the risk, threats and harm in detail and to activate an immediate 
and appropriate response.

The Critical Incident Group met between September 2018 and February 
2019. Key actions completed included:

 Reduction in long waits for drug treatment services;
 Introduction of a pilot outreach service targeted at people deemed 

at high risk of overdose, serious infection or death;
 Strengthening the Area Planning Board to respond to the needs of 

people in the area;
 Comprehensive awareness raising programme to build knowledge 

and understanding across agencies and within communities of the 
organised crime gangs behind County Lines, including how to spot 
concerns and how to report them;

 Multi-agency operations across the county borough to tackle drug 
dealing and to support vulnerable people caught up in the criminal 
gangs;

 Enhanced programmes across schools, youth services and 
further/higher education to equip teachers, teaching assistants and 
learners with knowledge and skills about county lines, substance 
misuse and how to respond to situations; and

 Joint working to provide more effective responses to people in a 
mental health crisis; with an acute health need; and children who 
are missing from residential care homes in the area.

The two public services boards will meet at least twice in the next twelve 
months to monitor progress. Accountability for delivering the next phase 
of actions has set been set out in an action plan agreed by both boards.

Early Years

The Neath Port Talbot Public Services Board was invited to take part in 
two Welsh Government programmes:

 First 1,000 Days; and
 Early Years Pathfinder.

As the programmes were seen to be complementary to Well-being 
Objective One, the Board agreed to participate in both programmes. The 
primary reason for participation is the benefits that should be delivered 

Tudalen49



31
Neath Port Talbot PSB Annual Report 2019

through the learning and research that will be available from across 
Wales and more widely.

A workshop for front line practitioners to raise awareness of the First 
1,000 Days programme was very successful, with the number of people 
attending the Neath Port Talbot event the highest to date in Wales. 
There were five themes identified on the day that the PSB has endorsed:

1. Placing the leadership for this work with the Think Family 
Partnership;

2. Aligning all of the programmes with Well-being Objective One;
3. Sustaining the level of multi-agency engagement;
4. Aligning the programme with the Early Years Pathfinder work; and
5. Regular reporting of progress to be made by the Think Families 

Partners to the Public Services Board.

Suicide Prevention

Work undertaken by Public Health Wales identified suicide prevention as 
an issue that needs greater attention across the Neath Port Talbot and 
Swansea region.

Recognising that the causes of suicide are complex, the two public 
services boards have agreed to collaborate with a view to establishing 
what action can be taken to reduce the rates of suicide. The first meeting 
of the two boards will take place in June 2019. In agreeing the actions to 
be taken forward, the public services boards will ensure that there is a 
clear line of communication to the West Glamorgan Regional 
Partnership Board so that any actions addressed to health and social 
care can be incorporated into the work of that partnership.

Physical Activity Alliance

The Board received a report from the Physical Activity Alliance which 
had formed to ensure organisations working to encourage greater 
physical activity were working together.

Lead Officers will consider how the recommendations of the Physical 
Activity Alliance report can be integrated into their Well-being Objectives 
going forward.

Tudalen50



32
Neath Port Talbot PSB Annual Report 2019

Collaborative Working 

A condition of the Welsh Government Grant that supports PSB Co-
ordinator posts is that there should be consideration of working 
regionally where this makes sense.

A number of activities have been carried out jointly with the public 
services boards of Bridgend and Swansea. These include:

 Joint training for report authors in Easy Read writing approaches;
 Consideration of the respective roles of the public services boards 

established under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) 
Act 2015 and the regional partnership boards established to take 
forward reform of health and social care services. Key actions from 
this work include:

 Focusing the work of PSBs on primary prevention with RPBs 
taking responsibility for secondary and tertiary prevention; and

 Holding a joint annual event to celebrate achievements and share 
learning.

 Meetings between the PSB Co-ordinators and between the Lead 
Officers have also identified some common themes that will be 
explored in the next twelve months: 

 adopting a consistent approach to asset mapping; 
 information sharing; 
 data analysis; 
 evaluation; 
 developing new methods of engagement such as digital 

stories;
 workforce development (making every contact count). 

It has been agreed that more regular meetings between co-ordinators 
and between lead officers will be scheduled in 2019-20. It was also 
agreed that agencies should be encouraged to reflect the PSB’s well-
being objectives in agency corporate plans and across partnership 
structures.

Partners are clear that the Well-being of Future Generations Act expects 
us to work differently.  The Board regularly challenges itself to respond 
to this expectation.  There is evidence of partners taking a different 
approach, however, it is equally clear that this is sometimes challenging, 
particularly for partners who work across Local Authority boundaries.

Tudalen51



33
Neath Port Talbot PSB Annual Report 2019

How can you track progress and get involved in our work?

The work undertaken by the Public Services Board is published on its 
website which can be accessed via: http://www.nptpsb.org.uk/

On our website you will find details of our Engagement Scheme which 
sets out a range of ways in which you can get involved in our work.

You can also contact our Public Services Board Co-ordinator directly: e-
mail nptpsb@npt.gov.uk or Telephone: 01639 763119. We welcome 
involvement in any area of our work and we would also welcome ideas 
and suggestions as to other areas of work that we could consider for the 
future.

If you require this document in a different format,  please contact the 
Public Services Board Co-ordinator on 01639 763119, email 
nptpsb@npt.gov.uk or write to Public Services Board Co-ordinator, Port 
Talbot Civic Centre, Port Talbot, SA13 1PJ

Tudalen52

http://www.nptpsb.org.uk/
mailto:nptpsb@npt.gov.uk
mailto:nptpsb@npt.gov.uk


34
Neath Port Talbot PSB Annual Report 2019

Appendix 1

Neath Port Talbot Public Services Board Membership

Statutory Members

Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council (Leader and Chief 
Executive) 
Swansea Bay University Health Board (Either the Chairman, Chief 
Executive or both)
Mid and West Wales Fire and Rescue Service (Either the Chairman, 
Chief Officer or both)
Natural Resources Wales (Chief Executive)

Invited Participants and Other Partners

NPT Council for Voluntary Service (Director)
South Wales Police (Chief Constable)
Tai Tarian (Chief Executive)
National Probation Service  (Assistant Chief Executive South Wales)
Wales Community Rehabilitation Company (Assistant Chief 
Executive South Wales)
Job Centre Plus (District Manager)
NPT Group of Colleges (Chief Executive)  
Higher Education Funding Council for Wales
University of Wales Trinity St David (Pro Vice Chancellor for External 
Stakeholder Engagement and Director of INSPIRE)
Welsh Government (Deputy Director Local Government: 
Transformation and Partnerships)
Public Health Wales (Director)
Community Councils & Town Councils (representative elected by the 
town and community councils)
Police & Crime Commissioner (Assistant Police and Crime 
Commissioner)
Swansea University (Registrar)
Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council (Director of Education 
and Lifelong Learning/Lead Director for Children)
Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council (Director of Social 
Services Health and Housing/Chair of the West Glamorgan 
Safeguarding Board)

Tudalen53



Mae’r dudalen hon yn fwriadol wag



Version 1 - 3 July 2019 Officer Responsible: Charlotte Davies

(DRAFT)
Cabinet Scrutiny Committee 

Forward Work Programme 2019/20

Date of Meeting Agenda Item Officer

29 May 2019

19 June 2019

10 July 2019 Public Service Board – Annual Report Karen Jones

31 July 2019

11 September 2019

T
udalen55

E
item

 yr A
genda6



Version 1 - 3 July 2019 Officer Responsible: Charlotte Davies

25 September 2019
Public Services Board – updates on Wellbeing Plan Public Services 

Board

2 October  2019 Periodic report on the progress of work against the Wales Audit 
Proposals for Improvement - 

Karen Jones/ 
Caryn Furlow

30 October  2019

20 November 2019

T
udalen56



Version 1 - 3 July 2019 Officer Responsible: Charlotte Davies

4 December 2019

8 January  2020

22 January  2020

5 February 2020 Public Services Board – updates on Wellbeing Plan Public Services 
Board

12 February  2019

19 February  2020

T
udalen57



Version 1 - 3 July 2019 Officer Responsible: Charlotte Davies

11 March  2020

1 April 2020

29 April  2020

27 May  2020

Items to be programmed in for future meetings
 To view the impacts of the decisions on the Welsh Language Promotion Strategy and the Valleys 

Action Plan annually (Karen Jones)

T
udalen58


	Agenda
	2 Cofnodion y cyfarfod blaenorol
	Minutes
	Minutes Public Pack, 19/06/2019 Cabinet Scrutiny Committee
	Minutes


	3 Adroddiad Blynyddol Bwrdd Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Castell-nedd Port Talbot 2018-2019
	psb - annual report

	6 Blaenraglen Waith 2019/20

